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Federal Trade Commission,

Plaintiff,

W orld Patent M arketing, lnc-, a Florida

corporation;

Desa Industries, lnc-, also doing business as
W orld Patent M arketing, a Delaware
com oration; and

Scott Cooper, individually and as an owner
and offk er of W orld Patent M arketing, Inc.
and Desa Industries, Inc.,

Defendants.
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COM PLAINT FOR PERM ANENT INJUN CTION

AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF

Plaintifr the Federal Trade Commission (i;FTC''), for its Complaint alleges:

The FTC brings this action under Section 13(b) of the Federal Trade Commission

Act CtFTC Act''), l 5 U.S.C. j 53(b), to obtain temporary, preliminary, and permanent injunctive

relief, rescission or refonnation of contracts, restimtion, the refund of monies paid, disgorgem ent

of ill-gotten monies, and other equitable relief for Defendants' acts or practices in violation of

Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, l 5 U.S.C. j 45(a).

INTRO DUCTION

For the last three years, Defendants have operated an invention-promotion scam

that has bilked thousands of consumers out of millions of dollars. Defendants promise consumer

inventors a patent and a lucrative licensing or m anufacturing agreement that will allow

consumers to successfully monetize their inventions. Defendants craft their markding m aterials

to create the impression that they have successfully helped other inventors, and thus that they are
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reliable and reputable. ln tnzth and in fact, Defendants fail to fulfill almost every promise they

make to consumers. After Defendants collect thousands of dollars from consumers and string

them along for months or years, Defendants fail to provide third-party licensing or

manufacturing agreements, and their customers do not m ake money as a result of Defendants'

purported research, patenting, and invention-promotion services.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

This Coul't has subject matterjurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. jj 1331, 1337(a),

and 1345, and 15 U.S.C. jj 45(a) and 53(b).

4. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. j 1391 (b)(l), (b)(2), (c)(l), (c)(2),

and (d), and 1 5 U.S.C. j 53(b).

PLAINTIFF

The FTC is an independent agency of the United States Government created by

statute. 15 U.S.C. jj 41-58. The FTC enlbrces Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. j 45(a),

which prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or aftkcting commerce.

The FTC is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings, by its own

attorneys, to enjoin violations of the FTC Act and to secure such equitable relief as may be

appropriate in each case, including rescission or reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund

of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies. 15 U.S.C. j 53(b).

DEFENDA NTS

Defendant W orld Patent M arketing, lnc. is a Florida corporation wiith its principal

place of business at 1680 M eridian Avenue, Suite 600, M iami Beach, Florida. W orld Patent

M arketing transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout the United States

and internationally. At a11 times m aterial to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others,

World Patent Marketing has advertised, marketed, distributed, or sold research, patenting, and

invention-promotion selwices to consumers throughout the United States and intelnationally.

Defendant Desa Industries, lnc., also doing business as W orld Patent M arketing,

is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business at 1680 M eridian Avenue, Suite
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600, M iam i Beach, Florida. Desa lndustries transacts or has transacted business in this district

and throughout the United States and intelmationally. At a11 tim es material to this Complaint,

acting alone or in concert with others, Desa Industries has advertised, m arketed, distributed, or

sold research, patenting, and invention-promotion services to consumers throughout the United

States and internationally.

9. Defendant Scott Cooper is an owner and officer, and founder and CEO, of W orld

Patent M arketing and Desa lndustries. At all times m aterial to this Complaint, acting alone or in

concert with others, he has fonnulated, directed, controlled, had the authority to control, or

participated in the acts and practices of W orld Patent M arketing and Desa lndustries, including

the acts and practices set forth in this Complaint. Defendant Cooper resides in this district and, in

connection with the matters alleged herein, transacts or has transacted business in this district

and throughout the United States and intenaationally.

l0. Defendants World Patent Marketing and Desa lndustries (collectively, 'lcorporate

Defendants'') have operated as a common enterprise while engaging in the deceptive, unfair, and

unlawful acts and practices alleged below. Defendants have conducted the business practices

described below through inten-elated companies that have common ownership, otxcers,

m anagers, business functions, employees, and office locations, and that have commingled funds.

Because these Corporate Defendants have operated as a common enterprise, each of them is

jointly and severally liable for the acts and practices alleged below. Defendant Scott Cooper has

formulated, directed, controlled, had the authority to control, or participated in the acts and

practices of the Corporate Defendants that constitute the common enterprise.

CO M M ERCE

At a1l times material to this Complaint, Defendants have maintained a substantial

course of trade in or affecting comm erce, as iicommerce'' is defined in Section 4 of the FTC Act,

15 U.S.C. j 44.
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DEFEN DANTS' BU SINESS ACTIV ITIES

l2. Since approximately February 2014, Defendants have marketed and sold research,

patenting, and invention-promotion serdces to inventors who want to profit from their ideas for

inventions.

Dqfendants 'Misrepresentations in Marketing

13. Defendants have marketed their purported research, patenting, and invention-

promotion services tlzrough, among other things, advertisements on television and the internet,

telem arketing, and con-espondence and contracts sent through the United States m ail and e-mail.

14. Defendants have maintained a website that features bûsuccess stories'' of

inventions that Defendants have purportedly promoted successfully, including tt-lkddie's Ballie

Bumpers,'' ûtl-ive Expert Chat,'' and bisupl'eme Diva Jeans.'' Defendants' website also contains

purported favorable testim onials from inventors and a form to submit invention ideas to

Defendants.

15. ln truth and in fact, many of the inventors featured in Defendants' k-success

stories'' have not had success with Defendants, and the favorable testimonials on Defendants'

website were written by consumers shortly after purchasing from Defendants, befbre the

consumers had an opportunity to evaluate Defendants' fulfillment of their promises.

Defendants 'Mistvpresentations in Making Sales

l6. M ost consumers' Grst substantive com munication with Defendants is a phone call

with one of Defendants' salespeople. This call may be initiated by consumers in response to

Defendants' advertising, or it m ay be initiated by Defendants in response to consumers providing

their contact inform ation on a form on the Defendants' website or elsewhere.

On these initial calls, consumers describe their invention ideas to Defendants'

salespeople, who almost invariably tell consumers that they have great ideas. Salespeople usually

then explain that Defendants' SûBoard'' or ddlkam'' needs to approve ideas before moving forward,

and ask consumers to subm it written descriptions and drawings of their inventions for

Defendants' further review.

4
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l 8. A few days after consulners submit their ideas in writing, salespeople typically

call consum ers and inform them that Defendants have accepted their inventions, and reiterate

that they are great ideas. Salespeople ingratiate themselves with consum ers and build up

consumers' confidence through praise for their ideas. Salespeople represent that if consumers

buy Defendants' invention-promotion senpices, consum ers are likely to realize financial gain by

licensing their future patents, or through the manufacmre, distribution, and sale of their

inventions in well-known stores, including Walmart. Salespeople often make projections about

how much money consumers will make. Salespeople may also talk about the good consumers'

inventions could bring to society.

l 9. Salespeople also promote Defendants' performance record, claiming that

Defendants have successfully marketed the inventions of many of their customers and secured

licensing or marketing agreements for them . Salespeople create the impression that Defendants

are reputable, citing the testimonials on Defendants' website and the Better Business Bureau's

favorable rating of the Corporate Defendants. Salespeople also may create the impression that

Defendants are successful businesspeople, referring to Defendant Cooper's yacht and luxury

Cars.

20. Salespeople typically tell consumers that in order to continue the process,

consumers must spend up to $ l ,295 for a .tGlobal Invention Royalty Analysis'' or similar report.

Salespeople tell consumers that this report will contain research from pum orted experts,

supposedly including experts from major universities, who will evaluate the patentability and

marketability of consumers' ideas.

21 . lf consum ers agree to purchase a Royalty Analysis or sim ilar report, consumers

sign an agreement with Defendants and pay for a report. They then wait several weeks for the

reports to anive.

W hen consumers receive them, the reports invariably conclude that consumers'

ideas are patentable and marketable. The reports, which are usually around seventy pages,

5
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include, among other things, a patent search, market demographics, and a study pum ortedly

conducted by 1vy League researchers.

Defendants' salespeople then call consum ers again to discuss the report.

Salespeople continue to raise consumers' expectations by reiterating the representlttions made on

the previous call that if consumers buy Defendants' invention-promotion services, consumers

are likely to realize financial gain by licensing their future patents, or through m anufacturing of

their inventions. If the report ééscores'' consum ers' inventions, salespeople describe it as a good

score. Salespeople also continue to build up consumers' impressions of Defendants' success,

reputation, and prosperity.

Salespeople then typically pitch various Stpackages'' to consumers, ranging from

$7,995 to $64,995 for valying levels of patent protection and invention-promotion senices. The

most expensive packages purport to include :kglobal'' patent protection, which will m ake their

patents valid in the U.S. and abroad. The invention-promotion services offered also include:

rendering drawings and 313 models of inventions; creating brochures, internet video

commercials, press releases, and web sites about inventions', exhibiting consumers' inventions at

trade shows and so-called ûûinvention round tables''; and ongoing support from a personal

licensing agent. Salespeople depict Defendants as offering a one-stop shop for patenting and

invention-promotion, as well as licensing and manufacturing. Salespeople sometim es reference

companies lining up to license or purchase consumers' inventions, and allude to Defendants' own

purported manufacturing plants in China.

Salespeople generally pressure consumers to act fast to protect their inventions

and start making money from them . Salespeople assure consumers that they will not have to pay

any more m oney to secure the benefits that Defendants are offeling, including global patent

protection.

lf consum ers agree to purchase one of Defendants' packages, they qign a contract

with Defendants and make a second, and purportedly final, payment to Defendants. ln m any

cases, this contract also assures consumers that: iil-he inventor will not be held responsible for

6
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any additional expenses incurred or assessed by W orld Patent M arketing, other than those

defined within the scope of this agreement.''

Contraly to Defendants' representations, virtually none of Defendants' customers

has m ade money, or even recouped his or her investments, through Defendants' purported

patenting and invention-promotion services. Defendants have not actually secured third-party

licensing or manufacturing agreem ents for their customers, and their customers have not

received income from patent royalties or sales of products as a result of Defendants' work on

their behalf..

28. Also contrary to Defendants' representation, there is no such thing as a tiglobal

patent.'' A mechanism exists to apply for patents in multiple countries simultaneously under the

Patent Cooperation Treaty, but an inventor still needs to pay fees to each country fkom which he

or she expects to receive patent protection.

Dqfendants 'Post-sale Conduct

After consumers pay Defendants for their patenting and promotion packages,

consumers are left to wait with little or no communication from Defendants. W hen consumers

attempt to contact Defendants, they are often unable to reach the salespeople they have worked

with or anyone in customer service who can help them.

30. Defendants sometim es provide certain inconsequential services in 1In attempt to

string their customers along, thereby avoiding consumer complaints and credit card chargebacks.

These low-effort, low-value services may include: registering an internet domain name for one

year; designing drawings, logos, brochures, and banners; and issuing a press release on the

internet.

Defendants fail, in alm ost every case, to provide many of the other promised

invention-promotion services, such as promoting consumers' inventions at trade shows and other

events, and providing ongoing suppol't from a ddlicensing agent.'' M ost importantly, Defendants

fail to secure the prom ised third-party licensing and manufacturing agreements for consum ers. ln

some cases, responding to consumers who insist that their inventions be manufactured,
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Defendants tell consumers that consumers will need to pay tens of thousands, or even hundreds

of thousands of dollars m ore to actually commence manufacturing.

32. Defendants also generally fail to procure patents for consumers. Though

Defendants use offshore drafting services and contracted patent agents and attorneys to file

patent applications, those applications are of poor quality, and are often not approved by the

United States Patent and Trademark Office (ûûPTO'') on its Grst review. Requests f7r more

information or corrections from the PTO on Defendants' customers' patent applications often go

unanswered by Defendants and their contractors, and eventually the PTO rejects the patent

applications or considers the patent applications to have been abandoned.

33. ln the end, after months or even years of stringing them along, Detkndants leave

m ost of their customers with nothing. A very few receive a patent, some receive an assortment of

useless marketing m aterials; but none successfully enter into third-party licensing or

manufacturing agreem ents brokered by Defendants, and none actually make money. lndeed,

many of Defendants' customers end up in debt, or losing their life savings or inheritances, after

investing in Defendants' broken promises.

Dqfendants 'Efforts to Suppress Consumer Complaints

34. Defendants go to great lengths to hide their deceptive acts from potential

custom ers, consumer groups, and 1aw enforcement.

35. lf consum ers threaten to complain about Defendants' business practices, including

by threatening to post complaints on the internet or complain to the Better Business Bureau or

law enforcement, Defendants respond by threatening to 5le a lawsuit for extortion, defamation,

and other causes of action. Defendants and their lawyers have threatened consumers with

lawsuits and even crim inal charges and imprisonment for making any kind of complaint about

Defendants. For example, one consumer asked for a refund before any work was done on her

invention and she mentioned filing a complaint with the BBB. Defendant Cooper's lawyer sent

her a letter stating that her conduct was ttillegal'' and she was subject to fines or imprisonment, or

both. Further he told her ûiyou have proceeded far beyond what the Iaw defines as free speech
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and, instead, have engaged in an unlawful and intentional intenuption of W orld Patent

M arketing's business...W orld Patent M arlteting hereby demands that you imm ediately cease and

desist from making threats to defame it or illegally publish such statements to the Better

Business Bureau.'' After months of trying to receive a refund or services, she filed a complaint

with the BBB. Again she received a lettel' from a second lawyer who told her that her conduct of

seeking a refund constitutes extortion under Florida law ands bGsince you used email to make your

threats, you would be subject to a federal extortion charge, which canies a term of' imprisonment

of up to two years and potential criminal Gnes. See l 8 U.S.C. ! 875(d).''

36. If consumers do complain to the BBB or 1aw enforcem ent about Defendants'

business practices, Defendants and their lawyers often make legal threats against the

complainants until they retract their complaints.

Defendants have filed at least one lawsuit to suppress consumer colnplaints. After

Defendants sued a consum er complaint website, a complaint against Defendants was removed

from the site.

38. Defendants also cultivate a threatening atmosphere through e-m ails to would-be

complainants. For example, Defendants distributed, through an e-mail to all of Defendants'

then-existing custom ers, a blog post discussing an incident that purportedly occunbed in

Defendants' offices: A consumer that allegedly wanted to speak with Defendant Cooper about an

invention idea was stopped, detained, and expelled by Defendants' btintimidating security team,

all ex-lsraeli Special Ops and trained in Krav M aga, one of the most deadly of the martial arts.''

The post continued: is-rhe W orld Patent M arketing Security Team are the kind of guys who are

trained to knockout first and ask questions laten'' ln another blog post Defendants distributed

through an e-mail to all of their customers, Defendants boasted about their role in having a

fonner employee arrested on extortion charges.

9
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Since at least September 2t)l6, Defendants have also included a isconfidentiality

and Nondisparagement'' clause in their contracts with consumers. It states, in part:

The Client and W PM shall refrain from making or causing to be
made: publishing, ratifying. or endorsing any and all disparaging,
negatlve, or other similar statements concerning either of them to
any third party, including but not lim ited to individuals, entities,
internet websites, blogs, ptlblications, postings, em ails, and any
social media, such as Facebook, Twitter, blogs and wikis.

40. These tactics, including threats, intimidation, and gag clauses, discourage

purchasers from speaking or publishing truthful or non-defam atory negative comments or

reviews about the Defendants, their selwices, or their employees. By depriving prospective

purchasers of this truthful, negative inforrnation, Defendants' practices have resulted or are likely

to result in consumers buying senrices from Defendants they would not othem ise have bought.

VIOLATIO NS O F TH E FTC ACT

Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, l 5 U.S.C. j 45(a), prohibits tûunfair or deceptive acts

or practices in or affecting commerce.''

42. M isrepresentations or deceptive omissions of m aterial fact constitute deceptive

acts or practices prohibited by Section 5(a) of the FTC Act.

43. Acts or practices are unfair under Section 5 of the FTC Act if they cause or are

likely to cause substantial injury to consumers that consumers cannot reasonably avoid

them selves and that is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consum ers or competition.

15 U.S.C. j 45(n).
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Count l

Deception

44. As described in paragraphs 12 to 33 of this Complaint, in num erous instances in

connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, or sale ofresearch,

patenting, and invention-promotion services, Defendants have represented, directly or indirectly,

expressly or by implication, that:

a) Purchase of Defendants' invention-promotion services is likely to result in

financial gain for their custom ers;

Defendants have successfully marketed the invention ideas of many of

their customers, resulting in royalties or sales of their inventions;

Defendants successfully marketed specific invention ideas, such as

Teddie's Ballie Bumpers, Live Expert Chat, and Suprem e Diva Jeans;

d) Consumers who buy one of Defendants' 'ûglobal'' packages will receive a

globally-applicable patent;

Defendants have regularly negotiated licensing and manufaduring

agreements that have resulted in the manufacture and sale of their

customers' inventions; and

Consumers who buy Defendants' invention-promotion services will not

have to pay any more money to receive Defendants' promised services.

9

45. ln truth and in fact, in num erous instances in which Defendants have made the

representations set forth in paragraph 44 of this Complaint:

Virtually aIl of Defbndants' customers have lost their entire investm ent;

Virtually none of Defendants' customers earned royalties or sales of their

inventions;

Defendants did not successfully market Teddie's Ballie Bumpers, Live

Expert Chat, and Supreme Diva Jeans;
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d) There is no such thiing as a global patent as Defendants describe it to

consum ers;

Defendants have not regularly negotiated licensing or manufacturing

agreements that have resulted in the manufacture and sale of their

customers' inventions; and

Consumers routinely discover- when solicited for additional payments by

Defendants themselves, third-party patent agents, or intelmational patent

offices- that they will need to pay significantly more money to receive

Defendants' promised services.

46. Therefore, Defendants' representations as set forth in paragraph 44 of this

Complaint are false, misleading, or were not substantiated at the time they were made, and thus,

they constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, l 5 U.S.C.

j 45(a).

Count 11

Unfairness

47. As described in paragraphs 34 to 40 of this Complaint, in numerous instances,

Defendants have used tactics including tluvats, intimidation, and non-disparagement clauses to

discourage purchasers from speaking or publishing truthful or non-defam atory negative

comments or reviews about the Defendants and their serdces.

48. Defendants' practices as described in paragraph 47 of this Complaint have caused

or are likely to cause substantial injury to consumers that is not reasonably avoidable by

consumers and that is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or competition.

49. Therefore, Defendants' practices as described in paragraph 47 of this Complaint

constitme unfair acts or practices in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. jj 45(a)

and 45(n).

12
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CONSUM ER INJURY

50. Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a result

of Defendants' violations of the FTC Act. ln addition, Defendants have been unjustly enriched as

a result of their unlawful acts or practices. Absent injunctive relief by this Coul't, Defendants are

likely to continue to injure consumers, reap unjust enrichment, and harm the public interest.

TH IS CO URT'S PO W ER TO GRANT RELIEF

51. Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. j 53(b), empowers this Coul't to grant

injunctive and such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate to halt and redress violations

of any provision of 1aw enforced by the FTC. The Court, in the exercise of its equitable

jurisdiction, may award ancillary relief, including rescission or reformation of contracts,

restitm ion, the refund of m onies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, to prevent and

remedy any violation of any provision of 1aw enforced by the FTC.

PRAYER FO R RELIEF

W herefore, PlaintiffFTc, pursuant to Sections 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. jj 53(b),

and the Court's own equitable powers, requests that the Court:

Award Plaintiff such preliminary injunctive and ancillaly relief as may be

necessary to avert the likelihood of consumer injury during the pendency of this action and to

preserve the possibility of effective final relief, including but not limited to temporary and

preliminary injunctions, an order freezing assets, immediate access, and appointment of a

receiver;

B. Enter a permanent injunction to prevent future violations of the FTC Act by

Defendants;

Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers

resulting from Defendants' violations of the FTC Act, including but not limited to rescission or

refonnation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of i1l-

gotten m onies; and

13
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D. Award Plaintifrthe costs of' bringing this action, as well as such other and

additional relief as the Coul't may determine to be just and proper.

Dated: M arch 6, 201 6

Respectfully submitted,

David C. Shonka
Acting General Counsel
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